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 Confessions of a Street Addict




 CHAPTER 1 Early Years


 W hen  other nine-year-old kids bothered to look at a newspaper back in 1964, they turned to the comic strips, or maybe the ball scores. But when my dad brought home that three-star  Philadelphia Evening Bulletin,  I chucked  Peanuts, Archie,  and the standings and went right for the only section that has ever mattered to me: the business section, or more accurately, the stock tables. You see, I didn’t care about layoffs or hirings or economic policy. I cared about the companies and the dollar signs next to them that gauged their value every day. I cared about that wonderful printed wall of abbreviations, Gen’lMot, So’CalEd, PhilMo, followed by a high figure, a low figure, another number, and a minus or a plus sign. I devoured those the way any normal Philadelphia boy might have devoured the batting averages of his beloved Phillies or Eagles or Warriors. I knew I could figure out where those numbers were going. I could figure out the patterns that drove those prices, and I could make money doing so, if only in my own well-played stock market game.

  By fourth grade, I thought I understood the sequence of those numbers that came after those truncated names. I scrounged a used ledger book from my dad’s jobbing business, National Gift Wrap & Packaging Company, erased his all block capital letter tallies of boxes sold—men’s 9 by 12 locktops and 3 by 4 inch ladies’ jewelry—and replaced the columns with stock names and predictions of where they would close that afternoon. I never missed a day and couldn’t figure out why we had no pricings on Good Friday, Memorial Day, or election day. Didn’t those companies keep ticking despite the holidays? I couldn’t get enough, even when the rest of America clearly could. I wanted daily action.

  By fifth grade, unlike every other son in America, I had to beg my father to stay later at work. The paper he ordinarily brought home, the  Bulletin ’s three star, stopped quoting prices at 12:30 p.m.  What good was that? I made him work an additional hour and a half so he could snare the purple five star final sold right to your car window at 16th and Market on the way home to the suburbs. How else could I measure how right I was about my predictions of where Ling-Temco-Vought (LTV) and DougAir had finished if Dad came home with that miserable early edition with its midday prices? Each day, while others wasted time after school playing board games or combat or touch football, I’d be gaming the close. Each night, I’d rip the paper out of my dad’s hands, spread out the New York Stock Exchange tables on the living room floor, and see how much money my picks would have made.

  I wasn’t content with my own prowess. Nah, I had to teach others, tried to get Mrs. Mixer’s whole fifth-grade class to play the stock market game with me. Even showed them how to read the tables. But I had no takers. They just didn’t get the process.

  Didn’t matter. By my count, I would have made a couple of million dollars following my own picks before I had matriculated to sixth grade. That’s when $2 million meant something. My methods were simple, try to make small gains from the most active stocks, the ones that were involved in defense, because there was a war on, and defense seemed to be coining money. Seemed, and was—and will always be—simple enough.

  If only fantasy equaled reality at 1401 Cromwell Road in Wyndmoor in 1965. While I beat the averages with my picks, my dad, like many of his generation, had gotten a tip from a local broker: National Video. He plowed the returns of his paper jobbing business into the prospects for National Video. I still shudder when I hear those two words. For a period of about a year, every penny my dad made at National Gift Wrap, selling paper bags and boxes to retailers, he lost to that generation’s e-commerce dotcom play. Every night at dinner I would hear how National Video had done. It never seemed to go up. Although a chart I saw of the stock shows a couple of gentle rises on the way to oblivion, I can’t recall a single conversation during that period that wasn’t punctuated with “that goddamned National Video.” It got so I dreaded hearing the most actives on the radio, a report that I used to tune in at 4:00 p.m.  every day before my dad got home to get an early line on how I did, because National’s decline always got prominent featuring. Eventually, the pain of National Video overwhelmed the pleasure of my own game, and discussions of the stock market, fantasy or otherwise, were banned from the dinner table as just too upsetting.

  My dad has pretty much forgotten about National Video and the fellow who put him in it. But I remember Jack P., the Philadelphia broker who turned a generation against the stock market, and I hate that charlatan as if it were yesterday. He and National Video ruined just about everything a kid could want at that age.

  The stock, and with it, my father’s portfolio, like so many of his generation, never recovered. By sixth grade I thought it more prudent to downplay my stock prowess for my hitting and fielding abilities.

  And so it stayed, suppressed, with little more than a gentle skim of the closing prices through high school and college. What was the point for this indebted scholarship kid who didn’t have enough money to buy a share of a penny stock to keep up with the closing prices? If it hadn’t been for the night jobs of proofreading and delivering the college paper after it came off the presses, I wouldn’t have been able to maintain my day job as president of  The Harvard Crimson,  let alone complete the curriculum. Trading stocks would have to wait until I had some money.

  I was a competitive person at Harvard, at least that was my reputation. Unrelentingly competitive. Mindlessly competitive. For me Harvard College was a sideshow to the  Crimson,  Harvard’s newspaper. I ran for president, or editor in chief, of the paper against Eric Breindel. The presidential race at the  Crimson  is written about more than it should be, probably because every one of the top officers of the paper goes into journalism. At least a half-dozen magazine articles have chronicled this particular episode in my life, always in the same inaccurate way. Some unsophisticated hick from a trailer park in Pennsylvania runs against the most well-educated, awesomely intelligent preppy kid ever to come out of New York City by way of Exeter. Yes, I was a scholarship kid, but so was most everybody in my class. And yes, I was less sophisticated than Breindel, but I knew enough to recognize that the previous president, Nick Lemann, believed in meritocracy, and I was willing to work twice as hard as the next guy, if only because I could go twenty-four hours without sleep. I also knew that Breindel’s backers had arranged a “slate” that filled all the top positions without me. When I told Lemann this, he thought I was being paranoid until he heard it from Breindel’s supporters the night of the Turkey Shoot, when would-be executives declared their candidacy for the top positions at the paper. The vote was very close, 12–11 for me, and when Breindel lost, most of his slate stalked off, but not before throwing a few punches at some of the outgoing execs who had voted for me. Didn’t bother me—three fantastic freshmen agreed to work with me: Mark Whitaker, who would later become editor of  Newsweek;  Jon Alter, who would become Whitaker’s star columnist; and Joe Dalton, a talented writer who would pass away without ever realizing his potential. We put out a great paper. (Eventually Breindel brought his supporters back to work with me.)

  Two years as a journeyman general assignment reporter, first in Florida, for the  Tallahassee Democrat,  and then in California, for the now defunct  Los Angeles Herald Examiner,  did little for my market fixation either. Not that I didn’t have the desire. Never a wealthy kid, but not poor by any means, during those two years I was subjected to a series of reversals that would have provided anyone with several lifetimes’ worth of catalysts to get wealthy.

  Oh, I was a guy with a knack for being in the right place when it came to the news game. Only a few months after my arrival in Tallahassee, a crazed murderer broke into the sorority house down the block from my apartment. I got there early enough to leapfrog every other crime reporter in the country in the unfolding Ted Bundy national serial-killing spree. My reporting on that double murder received so much coverage around the country that editors who wanted hard-boiled crime reportage clamored to offer me jobs. In just a few months I found myself covering for the  Los Angeles Herald Examiner  everyone who died violently in California.

  While my criminal reporting career was taking off, however, my personal and financial well-being deteriorated rapidly. A few weeks after moving into a bungalow on Orange Grove in the only neighborhood in L.A. that remotely seemed like home, the Fairfax district, I returned from work to find that someone had made a tuna sandwich in my kitchen while I was away—a discarded can lay in the middle of the kitchen floor, and the bread bag had been mysteriously opened. I called the police, who did a cursory check of my security against intruders and told me to change the locks. I did.

  The next day, after work, I discovered that someone had broiled a chicken in my oven and eaten a couple of pouches of Birds Eye vegetables. The trespasser had left me with the carcass and some gizzards and a badly burnt broiling pan.

  A call to the police again brought in a suggestion that I change the locks again. Having just done it, I said I would do so again, but I wasn’t made of money.

  The next morning I thought I detected someone outside my little home smoking cigarettes. I called the police immediately, but by the time they got there, the man had disappeared. However, there was a pile of Winston butts right outside my bedroom window where the person had apparently been waiting for me to get up and go to work so he could start the day living in my apartment.

  I told the cops where he had been standing outside my house, and asked if they would take some fingerprints off the butts or around the windowsill.

  It was then I realized how overmatched I was. One patrolman looked at the other and said, “This kid thinks we’re Kojak or something.” His advice was more pointed. “Look, get a gun, hire a private detective, protect yourself.”

  Thanks, officer!

  That day I borrowed a .22 caliber pistol from a reporter friend of mine and brought out my Boy Scout hatchet that I had used in camping trips as a little boy. When I got home that night I learned that the stalker had made a nice salad, opened up a can of fruit cocktail, and taken a shower and a shave in my bathroom. He neglected to flush. He had also taken my extensive collection of John Coltrane albums and the change that I kept hidden away in a little Tupperware container in the hall. I didn’t bother to call the police this time.

  Throughout this period I had confided in my editor at the time, Frank Lalli, later of the New York  Daily News  and before that of  George  and  Money  magazine, that the stalker was getting the best of me. I told him I had no place to turn and needed his help. He just nodded each time and gave me another assignment. He dispatched me to San Diego to cover a standoff between a sixteen-year-old sniper, Brenda Spencer, and the San Diego police. Spencer, one of the original school shooters, would later tell people that she killed because rainy days and Mondays made her blue.

  When I got to the unfolding crime scene I called Lalli and told him that this was a well-covered affair with lots of press. He urged me to get something different. He suggested that I go past the police line and run toward the school to get a sense for what it would be like to be under fire. While I knew that Lalli was no fan of mine, for $179 a week I wasn’t going to become a live target of some crazed teen. I told Lalli that and said I wanted to get back to my bungalow because I feared what would happen if my stalker had the run of the place overnight.

  He instead told me to stay in San Diego to see if I could get some good second-day angle on the shooting.

  When I got back home the next day, everything was gone. It was as if a moving van had come and taken every last scrap of my belongings.  Nothing was left. No clothes, no sheets, no furniture, no books, no toiletries, no food, not even any toilet paper or toothpaste. Broom-clean save for a box spring and the heaviest of the appliances.

  All I had left to my name was what was in my car, a sport jacket, my .22, and the old Boy Scout hatchet. Of course my checks were gone. He’d cashed me out of my checking account the day before. No more money for the rent, not that I wanted to stay there another night. The cops came yet one more time, said they would be happy to write up a stolen property form for insurance purposes—like I had any—and told me that I would be an idiot to stay in that apartment any longer unless I wanted to be killed by the stalker.

  Good advice.

  Bereft with no way to pay my rent, with literally only the shirt on my back and not more than a couple of dollars in my pocket, I descended rapidly into the world of the working homeless.

  I slept in the back seat of my Ford Fairmont for the next nine months, with intermittent stays at friends’ apartments, as they took pity on my plight. My favorite resting place: I-5 truckstops, huddled beneath my corduroy jacket, clutching the hatchet with one hand and the .22 with the other. For a month Don Forst, now the editor of the  Village Voice,  then the managing editor at the  Herald Examiner,  let me crash in his apartment when he could no longer stand the smell of my corduroy jacket and Gap pants that I wore every day. He asked me how come I never changed clothes. He gave me a chance to get back on my feet, but no sooner did it look like I had a place to stay for good than Forst got the job as editor of the  Boston Herald,  and I was right back out on the street, in the Fairmont, with the .22, the hatchet, and a new addition, Jack Daniel’s, to keep me warm. I defined pathetic and poor. Man, and did I ever smell bad.

  My city editor, Lalli, seemed to think that all of these travails were hysterically funny. He delighted in sending me to ridiculous overnight assignments where I wouldn’t need to go “home” anyway. Repeatedly, whenever it was foggy, he made me stake out LAX waiting for plane crashes. He made me cover every L.A. night fire short of a barbecue or school bonfire. Of course, he made me visit the families of every murder victim and if I came up empty-handed for the first edition he would have me hound the bereaved for the second, third, and fourth editions. He had me hole up below a dangerous boulder that jutted from the Palisades overlooking the Pacific. He had hoped that it would roll down on my watch, hit a few cars on the Pacific Coast Highway, and then plunge across the street into the den of the director who made  Sounder.  When the state finally dynamited the boulder to get it loose, he urged me to write the story from beneath the boulder’s trajectory to get the real scoop. He wanted to use a headline that said I played rock around the clock and the rock won. He cackled daily to other staffers about my poverty and seemed to relish how dirty he could make me, knowing that I had no ability to grab a shower or get fresh clothes without the help of others. Without the protection of Donny Forst, I was at the mercy of this taunting maniac.

  Desperate, I pleaded to higher-ups to let me go on the road where I could have some expense money so I could rebuild my wardrobe, even if it meant staying in my car at Interstate 80’s Northern California truck stops. Jim Bellows, the editor in chief, answered my prayers by making me capital bureau chief in Sacramento, and instructed Lalli to tell the current bureau chief to move on. But Lalli didn’t let anyone know and when I got to the capital city the bureau chief knew nothing about the switch. I ended up camping on the side of his desk by day and on the side of I-80 by night.

  I parlayed the first expense dollars into enough money to rent an apartment by taking up betting on the horses. I had taken a handicapping tutorial in college taught by a fellow who had studied with Andy Beyer, the  Washington Post  racing columnist, who had dropped out of Harvard a week before he graduated because he was making too much money at the track. I would spend weekends in my car outside the track near the Bay Meadows park outside San Francisco or drive to Los Angeles and camp out near Santa Anita. It was my only way to make enough money to stay dressed and warm.

  As luck would have it, Governor Jerry Brown was anxious to promote an area of the state that was starting to boom and he arranged a multiday tour of the factories of Silicon Valley for anybody who was inclined to go. I was the only one who volunteered.

  The trip was just enough outside Sacramento that the real bureau chief didn’t mind my taking it, and I had my first personal brush with high-tech companies. Of course, I didn’t have two nickels to buy a stock, but I got the sense in the spring of 1978 when touring National Semiconductor and Signal, two forerunners of the coming tech boom, that this was where the big money was going to be made if I ever got any to invest.

  Not long after I arrived in Sacramento, Lalli, on a whim, asked me to fly with Governor Brown and his girlfriend Linda Ronstadt to Africa. I only had a day’s notice, and to go I needed inoculations against a host of diseases, a series that was meant to be given over a period of weeks. The next day I came down with something that resembled cholera and devolved quickly into a deeply jaundiced liver.

  Unfortunately, I had no health care coverage, because the paper’s HMO only had offices in Los Angeles. I dragged myself to a farmworkers’ clinic in Yuba City, where doctors told me that someone would have to take care of me if I were to get better.

  Scrambling, I tapped into my old  Harvard Crimson  network to find someone who was hiring journalists in New York, where I knew my sister, Nan, would be able to nurse me back to health. A buddy of mine, Scott Kaufer, a couple of years ahead of me at college, mentioned to me that Steve Brill, a hard-charging reporter turned editor, was putting together a trade magazine about lawyers that would allow young reporters to practice investigative journalism. I was so down and out I didn’t mind the notion that I would be helping start some sort of trade magazine for lawyers, and I told Kaufer that I would love to get a shot at being in New York. As I was making little with no health benefits, I figured, How could it be any worse?

  Not long after, Steve Brill called. I had never met a character like Brill—never will again, either. Brill was mean, not behind your back, but right to your face. Gratuitously mean and tremendously funny. The contrast between us couldn’t have been more black and white; me, five foot nine, slight, with a wild but receding head of Afro’d hair, a beat-up jacket and bell bottoms that I had turned into straight pants with a little cutting and pasting, and the big brutish Brill, with the perfectly cut blue American suit, and those split collar shirts, and Yale ties and gold collar bars. When I was ushered into his office, the first thing out of his mouth was that he would love to hire me, but he couldn’t, not until he fired Mike Vermeulen, a long-since-departed-from-this-earth reporter. He needed Vermeulen’s desk first. He looked at me, up and down, eyes lingering on the corduroy jacket’s grime-blackened lapels, and said that I looked like I could use some extra money. He offered me a thousand bucks if I would personally fire Vermeulen right then and there. He had no idea how desperate I was for money—I owed everyone in California a couple of hundred dollars—and I jumped at the chance. When I said I would do it unhesitatingly he hired me on the spot at $20,000, an immense amount for 1979, almost doubling my pathetic  Los Angeles Herald Examiner  salary. He kept me from doing the firing—and believe me I would have—and gave me a couple of hundred bucks and told me to go buy some clean shirts and a jacket and report to work in two weeks.

  Job in hand, I flew back to California and immediately called down to editor in chief Bellows and told him I was quitting because I could no longer take the torture of Lalli’s brand of journalism. Of course it had no impact whatsoever, as those things never do, but at least I felt like I explained to Bellows what a sadistic son of a bitch Lalli was. Only now, after I have made millions in the stock market to get away from that poverty, do I perversely—in a way that Lalli would certainly understand—credit that strange bully with the inspiration to get rich as quickly as possible.

  I vowed that I would never again allow myself to be as poor and lacking in material wealth as I had become. My older and only sister, Nan, an associate at a downtown law firm, allowed me to sleep on the floor of her studio apartment in Greenwich Village so I could begin to save a little money to buy some clothes and get my health back. Once at  American Lawyer  —as Brill’s magazine would be called—I contacted the slew of bill collectors that had dogged me for everything from phone service to Southern California Edison to Mobil to Allstate and agreed to pay the money I owed over a four-year period.


 W ith  what was left with my paycheck, I decided that the time had come to try my hand again at the game I had given up years before: stocks. I bought shares in some of the companies I had visited in Silicon Valley a few months before. I only had enough money to buy five shares at a clip, and sometimes the commissions were as expensive as the stocks! But that didn’t deter me. I remember those first trades like yesterday. I piled into seven shares of Bobbie Brooks, the dressmaker, after  Forbes  gave it a nice write-up. I snared ten shares of American Agronomics, the orange juice company, also a  Forbes  write-up. Then I bought twenty shares of Bob Evans Farms, a Midwestern restaurateur. Magazines, such as  Forbes,  then as now, are chock-full of good ideas that you can turn into profits. I got the old ledger out from the 1960s and put in new names, with real hard dollars, not play money. I matched ideas from  Business Week  and  Forbes  with the miserly stock research then available publicly through the New York Public Library. Even though we were still in the tail end of the 1970s bear market, my selections worked. It was just like the old days back in the Philadelphia suburbs. Nothing had changed my ability to splice the headlines of the day with stock prices to derive some serious winners. With the winnings, always taken off the table, I plowed into SPS Technologies, an airplane fastener company, catching an aerospace cycle move for a quick doubling of my money.

  Within a few months’ time, I could barely do my reporting work, I was so busy running to the Midtown Business Library in Manhattan investigating tips and ideas for my next score in the market. I had even engaged the boss, Brill, to tag along with me, after he asked me what the heck I was doing calling my broker all the time when I was supposed to be writing. I told him that I was developing a thesis that Natomas, the oil company with giant shipping interests, would soon be getting a takeover bid. When the bid materialized a few days later, he too became a believer. Soon Brill let me have time off to develop my next big idea, provided I let him in on it. We made some good money together.

  I also gave up the ponies for the equity market, taking with me the disposition to plunge big when I was right and to cut back dramatically when the odds didn’t favor me. Those, after all, were the true takeaways from  Picking Winners  and  My First $50,000 Season,  two excellent racing books by the  Washington Post  ’s Andy Beyer. While others read them for their horse handicapping insight, I saw them for what they truly were, a rigorous, disciplined way to handle risk in any endeavor involving wagering, whether sports or stocks. I combined an ability to read the fundamentals behind the stocks with insights gleaned from Beyer to generate an investment philosophy that allowed me to let my gains run but cut my losses immediately. He preached discipline in the face of fallibility. He backed a philosophy of betting large on out-of-the-way races and tracks that weren’t on the radar screen of the big-time gamblers, perfect traits for the mastering of any stock market.

  There are tons of investment texts out there, most of which preach buy and hold and many of which emphasize how to analyze value and growth stocks. However, few if any tell you about a disciplined style that melds conviction with the changing course of business fundamentals and emphasizes putting the big bet down when you think you have something really special, as Beyer insists. None of these investing books talks about flexibility and the need to reevaluate and change your portfolio on a regular and rigorous basis, as Beyer does his horse wagering. It was Beyer’s insights that put me on the path of massive profitability. Many years later, when I was making millions of dollars a week buying and selling stocks, I would often marvel at how wasted Beyer’s talents were on the small money of the ponies. The man had it in him to write the greatest investing book in history if only he knew how much horses and stocks were alike. But it was either lost on him, or he just liked the horses more than stocks.

  I could have stayed with Brill forever. His mean spirit extended only to those who didn’t hustle. He ultimately was the most gracious boss I ever had, even as he would scribble the endless “You should be fired for this crock of shit” in red on the top of pieces that you rushed or didn’t think through fully. When I had a difficult operation that kept me in bed for a month, he bombarded me with gifts and books and insisted that I listen in to every rant against every writer he knew I didn’t like in the office. He introduced me to Jim Stewart, a senior staff writer who would win a Pulitzer for his reporting at the  Wall Street Journal  on Ivan Boesky and Michael Milken. He’s the best pure writer and reporter on the planet; we became friends for life. Brill taught me I could write whatever I wanted, as long as it was true, and he backed me up against a slew of people who tried to get me to write more positive articles than I would have otherwise. He was truly owned by no one and encouraged me to be the same. He was rarely wrong about a lead, had an impeccable nose for a great story, and would spend a fortune to allow me to track down whatever investigative story I wanted to do. No questions asked. If you ever wrote a tough piece, when the inevitable call from someone big and important came to suggest you should be fired, Brill would get on the phone and scream bloody murder at the powerful person, because he was backing his reporter. That made you love him. I am always amazed how few bosses in journalism react with such loyalty toward their own.

  Brill loved to pit talent against each other. Brill had just hired Stewart and Connie Bruck, both now of  The New Yorker,  right before he had hired me, and we would all compete to be on the cover of this little trade magazine with seventeen thousand circulation. He always promised the cover to all three of us and we would actually be severely disappointed if we ultimately didn’t make it. Amazingly, he made us actually care!

  He never did know when to quit, though, and could not bear to lose at anything. At the firm’s summer outing at Brill’s Westchester mansion, he divided us into teams, placed us in his pool, and insisted we play a vicious game of water polo where dunking was encouraged and expected. He relished the contact, being a head taller than just about anyone else on the opposing squad, including me. Just as I was about to score what would have been the tying goal for my team, Brill sank his teeth into my throwing arm, spouting blood into the clear water in a steady stream. As everyone looked on in horror, I could only laugh. That was Steve all over. He stopped my attempt, won the game, and gave new meaning to unsportsmanlike conduct, all with one bite.

  It wasn’t until I sickened of writing about wealthy lawyers for  American Lawyer,  and decided to go be one, that I was able to spend the amount of time I needed to pick stocks not just as a hobby but as a profession. When I applied to law school I thought I wanted to be a prosecutor; I figured it was like being a reporter, but with subpoena power. However, after getting into Harvard Law in 1980, and then deferring to 1981, I had set my sights more toward business; I was making too much money in the stock market by the spring of the year that I hated to give it up for full-time legal study. Although the brochures—and your parents—don’t tell you this, law school is an ideal place to take off three solid years to figure out what you really want to be in life. One thing was obvious from the getgo, you needed a lot of hard work and good grades to get one of those poorly paying prosecutor jobs. In the counterintuitive world that is law, the most sought-after jobs required the best grades and paid the lowest wages.

  In my first year of law school at Harvard, something happened that put an end to any possibility that I would ever work hard or get good grades. The Financial News Network had just started, and a UHF channel in Boston had picked up the feed. Along with constant commentary about stocks, FNN gave you a ticker, an actual tape of the action, delayed by fifteen minutes, of what was happening on the floor of the New York Stock Exchange. I was mesmerized. After months of having to sneak into the Merrill Lynch booth at Grand Central Terminal to get quotes, suddenly I had the whole market in front of me on my nine-inch black and white Sony. I couldn’t believe how easy it would be to trade while watching TV from my dorm, and make money under the guise of getting a degree. Once I was sure that FNN was there to stay, something that wasn’t easily foreseen given how horrible the market had been for so many years, I juggled my schedule to take early morning and late afternoon classes so that I wouldn’t miss the trading action. I made up my mind that I could put myself through law school trading off the FNN ticker.

  Sure, there were nagging classes that had to be attended to, but as long as you sat in the back with the  Journal  and some Wall Street research cribbed from the library, nobody cared. I figured I could make a killing and get the degree at the same time. Turns out that no professor cared as long as you didn’t crinkle the paper too loudly. By the end of the first year, I was reviewing the portfolios of most of my professors anyway. I got my labor law professor, Charles Fried, later the solicitor general of the United States, out of some nasty gold stocks and rescued evidence professor Charles Nesson from small cap oblivion.

  Soon after, I hooked up with Alan Dershowitz, who was running a law office out of Harvard Law. In return for his being on television all he wanted, a bunch of us made him look good by doing research and writing briefs for his celebrity clients. The pay was excellent, the hours didn’t interfere with the market, and by the beginning of my second year of law school I had made enough money in the market to pay for the whole three years and then some.

  By the fall of 1981, the market hadn’t yet begun to welcome the bulls. In fact, the stock market held very little interest for most people. It’s hard to imagine now how impenetrable it all was. Only the super-rich were in; it was considered reckless to “play” the market, because so much money had been lost in a previous generation. In fact, the averages were basically in the same place they had been for fifteen years. But the oil stocks were still benefiting from the shock that came after the toppling of Iran’s friendly government, and takeover activity still abounded, both in finance and in oil and gas, even as stocks, even growth stocks, foundered. I had a special talent for picking potential takeovers then.

  Sometimes I couldn’t resist crowing about the ideas I found. While people talked about who they married and how many years they had worked at Cravath or Morgan Stanley in their Harvard College Fifth Year Reunion book, I submitted a brief in the fall of 1981 for buying Dean Witter below $40, with the idea that it would not be independent by the time our reunion rolled around in June. It received a takeover bid not long after everyone got their class book. Name me another entry in that red-bound volume that made anyone any money. I guess you could say I couldn’t help myself. I just couldn’t get the market out of my head.

  That summer of 1982 I labored as an associate at Fried Frank, a large New York law firm dedicated to the proposition, like the rest of them, that lawyers were smarter than the businesspeople behind the deals but had to keep their mouths shut and work longer hours for less money. I found the work stultifying. I tried to keep my head down and focus on the possibilities of being a corporate lawyer, but it wasn’t for me. I had to ask the kid who delivered the mail three times a day to wake me up.

  Midway through the summer, I begged off the endless Mostly Mozart, fancy dinner, Broadway play, third-row-behind-the-dugout treatment that they gave all summer associates and asked to see what it was really like to work in one of these legal factories. So, one weekend, they put me on the legal team involved with a hostile takeover of Giddings and Lewis, a sleepy Fond du Lac auto machine tool manufacturer, by some Canadian steel-maker that didn’t know jack about the car business. The lunacy of paying above-market prices for such a stupid iron bender was beyond me. And, late one Saturday night, while I was proofreading documents alongside the principals, the bankers and lawyers representing the Canadian raider, I spoke up, telling everybody in the room that it had to be someone’s job to tell the client that the acquisition was moronic given that the Japanese had decided to move into machine tools aggressively and would decimate the profits of the likes of Giddings and Lewis. If no one else would speak to the lunacy of the bid, at least let me see the client for ten minutes and tell him, I said, while I fixed tiny punctuation errors that I could have spotted without the benefit of a high school diploma. The business guys recoiled as if someone had farted, and the senior lawyers took me aside as soon as possible to tell me that I better keep my trap shut lest they get kicked off the deal. Nobody likes a smart-ass lawyer, they told me.

  A few years later the buyer filed for bankruptcy.

  After returning to law school in the fall, I decided that I couldn’t go back to a law firm no matter how much they paid me. I had to make enough money in the market to show Wall Street investment firms that they should hire me. That fall, a few weeks before the great bull market began, I had an epiphany that we were due for an explosion in prices that would make anybody who was heavily invested a fortune. I could see things coming together for a major run at new highs under a Reagan presidency after a prolonged period of totally stink-o performance, hobbled by Carter’s anti-stock presidency and a Federal Reserve chairman determined to destroy anything financial with astronomically high interest rates.

  I took the money I made from helping Dershowitz try vainly to bail out a couple of white-collar crooks and made a massive bet on technology, then still in its infancy as an investment sector, catching fully the first big semiconductor move right in the kisser. I began purchasing call options—contracts on common stock that allowed you to profit if the stocks went up, but wiped out your investment if the stock went down—on Motorola and Texas Instruments every morning before Constitutional Law and selling them for five- and six-point profits after that two-hour yawner finished. Sometimes I would leave early rather than hear the professor drone on about  Marbury  v  . Madison,  but that often made me sell out before the trade reached full fruition. That’s how heated that tech market was that first fall of the new bull market and how astoundingly boring the classes were.

  I also enrolled in a class across the river at Harvard Business School to learn more about these options that I traded every day. The professor’s thumbnail description in the catalogue described his course as a way to learn the intrinsic reasons behind the pricing of the instruments I was making so much money from. It wasn’t long, however, before I realized that the professor, with all of his fancy calculations that showed the “true” pricing of call options, didn’t have a clue about how options really worked. In fact, in almost every case that he gave, the real option world would have produced a far different answer. It would not be the first time that I found it fascinating how academics knew absolutely nothing about the way securities really trade. After about four weeks I gave up the class in disgust, muttering that the clown teaching it couldn’t trade his way out of a wet paper bag. Thank God I took no notes; I might never have made a dime in the market with that “knowledge.” The only place you could make any money at that school was the library, because they kept microfiched annual reports, vital for finding the next big trades.

  At the same time that the bull market was erupting on Wall Street, Alan Dershowitz managed to snare the von Bülow appeal, the one that was the subject of  Reversal of Fortune.  (Dersh told me I was played by some Indian guy in the movie, but he said the same thing to the dozen others who were on the case.) I got to argue in the pleadings about some bogus Fourth Amendment search and seizure position about a black bag containing insulin that may or may not have been touched by Claus. At $18 an hour, I was making enough to increase my average position from five calls to ten, a major boost considering how much the commissions took from the trade. For what it’s worth, I thought the guy was really guilty, but in our bizarre system of justice that played only a minimal role in the process.

  Within a few months of the start of the bull market in 1982, I was so confident that these markets were going places that I wanted to get others in. In my first year at law school, I had been writing a newsletter called  Mr. Bullish  to my parents and a few select friends every week, containing some good stock tips, mostly on the red-hot apparel and shoe businesses and the reasoning backing up the tips. The folks got the hard copy; friends the carbons. Looking back it was an astoundingly geeky thing for a twenty-six-year-old to do, but it forced me to think about stocks in a coherent way. I was not, however, getting any traction. Not enough people were hearing about this great new bull market. Nobody should miss out on this one, I told myself. Gotta get everybody I know in. So I took the answering machine that my sister, Nan, had bought me, and decided to get into the stock business by leaving a message recommending select equities: “This is Jim Cramer, I’m not here right now, but you should take any spare cash you have this week and buy People Express up to $14.” Or, “Hi, I’m not here right now, but IBM looks good for a trade up to $70.” Each week on Sunday night I would change the pick, until I had built a ten-stock portfolio with a mixture of financials, airlines, and semiconductors. I caught some real scorchers on the machine, including Monolithic Memories, National Semiconductor, Northern Telecom, and a couple of the Canadian oils that were acting jiggier than anything in our markets. On big weeks I urged callers to take profits in airlines and roll into the semiconductors, or vice versa if the plane stocks took a hit.

  I would cut a lot of class, trade all day off Financial News Network, then go to work researching the law for Dershowitz. It was at that moment that I got my biggest break of my business life, and it was when I least expected it to happen. For a couple of weeks straight, a guy named Marty Peretz kept calling and leaving messages. Everyone knew Marty at Harvard. He was loved by those who took his courses and had always discovered terrific young talent from his social studies lectures and from his freshman seminar. I knew him slightly, having been introduced a few years back by then-  New Republic  editor Michael Kinsley, whom I had met through  Crimson  connections. I had spent a summer just out of college in 1977 working on a piece for  The New Republic  about meritocracy and the Philadelphia Eagles under Dick Vermeil, but I only got $179 for my troubles.

  Peretz called because he wanted me to write a “fix is in” book review about  The Partners,  a new book about the legal profession by my friend Jim Stewart from  American Lawyer.  Peretz and Stewart were buddies and Marty wanted to help Jim, so he reached out to me. I didn’t know at the time that reviews could even be assigned to friends! Wow, was I painfully naive about the ways of journalism even after spending a few years with Brill. Perhaps I was too steeped in the  Crimson  ethic of bashing friends rather than helping them. That’s not the way Marty—or the world—worked, I later discovered. I really had no interest in writing the review anyway, but Peretz was insistent, leaving me messages every Monday. I didn’t bother to return the repeated calls. By the fourth week, though, Peretz, whom I knew as someone with riches beyond anything I had ever dreamed of, left a message saying that he no longer cared about the review anymore. He just needed to meet me, he said, because he had made more money off my answering machine than in twenty years of investing by so-called professionals. He liked me for my stocks, for my pick of the week that I put on my machine every Sunday night. Peretz wanted to meet me and talk about running some of his money. “Meet me at the Coffee Connection tomorrow morning at 8:30. Bring your best stock tips,” said the message. Oh man, did I ever not know what I was getting into.

  I schlepped across the street dutifully at 8:30, and Peretz, after shaking my hand and ordering a couple of coffees, whipped out a check for $500,000 and told me to take it. I said I couldn’t. What the heck did I know about running other people’s money? I wondered to the bearded professor. “Everything,” he assured me. Marty had married a terrific, wealthy woman, Anne, and had spent much of his time augmenting that wealth with some great investments of his own, mostly in private companies. Now, he said, he had found someone whom he could work with to hone those hunches and make the most money out of them, and he wasn’t going to let me return to school until I took the money.

  Marty then had me review his family’s portfolio right on the spot. He was way overweighted in the oils and the rails, definitely making the wrong bet now that oil had peaked. One of the goofy things about me is that I have an unbelievable ability to retain stocks and prices, even as I may not know names and faces very well. As I had studied the stock pages before going to the Connection, I knew where all of the stocks were in his massive portfolio, and their ranges for the last year. I gave him my hightech epiphany and asked him where his tech stocks were. Sadly, he said, his managers had picked none. His stocks, I told him, had limited potential. The oils had had their day, I said, and were unlikely to beat the averages. The rails were incredibly boring places to be. (Still are.) He insisted again that I take his money. He begged me. Five hundred thousand dollars. The man was going to give me $500,000 because of my stock pick of the week, $500,000 to a person who didn’t have $5,000 to his name, and I am giving him a fight on it? Why am I arguing with him? I thought to myself. The guy is trying to let me do what I think I can do best, what I think I have been put on earth to do, and I am telling him no? I could beat the returns of those family partnerships of his even while attending class. I could beat them even if I never left the classroom! Did I expect another person to turn up in the next hundred years with a check for $500,000 begging me to manage his money for him? What was I fretting about? What was I waiting for? So I grabbed it and shook his hand, even though I was frightened beyond belief that I would lose the money and that Marty had just, expensively for him, called my stock bluff. It was the beginning of an incredible partnership that made us both tons of money, for which I will forever be indebted to Marty.

  I remember getting on the subway at Harvard Square a block from the Connection, with a folded-up check for half a million dollars in my chinos, and a couple of law books under my arm. Twenty minutes later I was at the window in some downtown office of Fidelity in Boston. As I’ve said, there wasn’t too much interest in the market way back then and nobody was on their quote machine. While I had a full day of classes ahead, I just sat there for hours, hitting up symbols. After a long afternoon of quote hitting, I handed over the check to the discount house and began my professional trading career. They looked at me, looked at the check and a letter I had from Marty saying that I could do what I wanted with the money, and seemed completely perplexed. With my sneaks and my torn blue Sierra Designs jacket and a ratty black cotton T-shirt, I didn’t look like a guy with a friend, let alone a half million bucks. But after a couple of calls they let me set up the account and gave me trading authority over the money.

  The next day, I skipped class to get the half million into the market. I didn’t want to waste any time. I was brimming with good ideas. Or so I thought. I put up chart after chart of important stocks that I wanted to buy. Nailed them to the walls and covered the floor with them. With some degree of trepidation, I picked up the phone, punched in seven numbers, and reached a Fidelity representative. Within two minutes I had put the $500,000 to work.

  Wouldn’t you know it, I dropped $14,000 the first day, getting impaled on some data switching company I had picked out of the Value Line Special Situation Survey report. I then proceeded to drop another $64,000 on Pulte Homes, Time Life, and a couple of chip stocks that had been oh-so-good to me for so long. Seventy-eight thousand dollars just up and vanished. Gone. Vaporized. I couldn’t believe that, after two years of making good money pretty much every week for myself, I could turn $500,000 into $422,000 in only days. What an idiot! The losses were staggering. I had the first of what amounted to two decades of consecutive sleepless nights as I woke up at 3:00 a.m.  trying to figure out how I could ever make the money back for this man I had met just one time for a cup of coffee. At $200 a pop, that’s an awful lot of  New Republic  articles I would have to write to make good on Peretz’s trade. I couldn’t imagine how I could ever come back from that loss. Sweat would pour down my back as I waited for the market to open. I would gasp every time one of my ticker symbols came up with a minus sign next to it. By day four, I couldn’t bear to look at FNN. I dreaded the stock tables for the first time in my life. I was a fraud, a huge fraud, and had just been incredibly lucky. I would cash out the remainder before I lost it all and begin working as a servant for Marty until I could make it all back, cleaning his house, maybe raking a hundred years’ worth of leaves from his yard in tony north Cambridge.

  The next week Marty left word on my now recommendation-less answering machine that he wanted to review how we had done. I was horrified that I could lose so much  real  money after playing so well first with paper money and then with small amounts of cash, my cash, not someone else’s. After an entirely sleepless night I could barely think straight as I crossed Dunster Street to go back to the same table at the Coffee Connection where, a week before, $500,000 had been handed to me, $500,000 I had now turned into $422,000.

  As soon as I saw Marty I dropped the bomb of the “lost” $78,000. I promised to give him the rest of the money back and work at any job he wanted until I did. It was then that Marty shocked me by laughing at the losses and telling me that I should just make it back in the market, that his faith in me was undiminished, and that if anything I was handling the market’s downturn—it had started its first serious sell-off since the Federal Reserve had started cutting rates in 1982—perfectly, much better than his other managers. I remember choking back tears. “You mean you don’t want me to repay the money right now? You don’t want me to just owe you what I lost?” No, he said. In fact, he wanted to give me more money. He was ready to give me several hundred thousand dollars more right then, just to show that he had confidence in me and believed that I would make even bigger money for him down the road, when I got a better feel for the tape.

  “Go make it back,” he said.

  And so I did.

  I immediately broomed the whole goddamned portfolio that I had intended to buy and hold, and set out to trade my way back to the black, rather than owning stocks and hoping for the best. I started placing $2,000 and $3,000 bets on call options on computers and semiconductors until I made back about half the losses. (Calls are super-juiced investments that allow you to control a lot of stock with much less money than you’d need to buy the stock itself. Until you have to take delivery you can trade the value of the option, which goes up if the underlying stock goes up. There comes a time when options have to be exercised, though, and if the stock doesn’t go up in the interim you lose everything. You don’t buy calls to hold them. Owing to their volatility, you have to trade them, and trade them constantly. They are addictive and when you are right they can make you money with greater velocity than any other bet on earth.)

  Then I switched aggressively to the short side, betting against Motorola and Texas Instruments, as well as many of the oil and rail stocks Marty had in his other portfolios, believing momentum had peaked for the moment. (“The short side” means that you make money when something goes down. It is no different from betting against a team in football. You get  paid if it goes down, not up. In the money-managing world it’s much more gratifying to be short than to be long or to own stocks, because you make money when others are losing money; think of it as getting paid for Schadenfreude.) Soon, almost every bet was a bet against the market. I traded some stocks eight or nine times a day, trying to catch little moves. I sneaked back to watch FNN every lunch. I gave up the Dershowitz gig entirely, in order to read up on more companies, get more ideas, more shorts. I had stacks of research in every corner of my dorm room and sheaves of annual reports. Anything that I thought could go down I would buy puts on, and as the market rolled over, I began to make some big money. (Puts are like insurance on something you don’t own. You buy an option on a stock, for example, expecting it to go down. When it does, you get to collect the loss as a profit.) Sometimes I made as much as $2,000 to $2,500 a day, trying to get back to even.

  Marty didn’t even care that, a few weeks later, without any dish cleaning or lawn mowing or, most fortunately given the paltry sums paid out by  The New Republic,  article writing, I had made the money back. When I again offered him the original $500,000 with an opportunity for us to go our separate ways, he wouldn’t hear of it. He again implored me to take more money. He wanted to know whether I had gotten my hot hand back, the one that made the answering machine tips so spot-on, and if so he insisted that I take more money. He had found his stock picker and he wasn’t going to give up on him.





 CHAPTER 2 Goldman



 T hat winter of 1982–1983, after trading Marty’s money for five months, I couldn’t bear to think about having to go back to a law firm for the summer. I knew I hated the law. I hated litigation. I hated corporate work. I hated proofreading documents. I hated being a toady to others. I hated working for miserable mean partners. I knew I would never last. I knew I liked business and wanted to be in business, not law. So, I decided to blow off the crucial second summer at a law firm, and apply to every major investment banking house in town and see if I could catch on. I went back to the Harvard Business School Library and looked up the biggest and toughest investment banks and applied to every one of them. Within a week every firm rejected me, except the best one, Goldman Sachs, which seemed genuinely interested. I got a letter from Goldman saying that it would consider me for its summer associate program but that I would have to battle hundreds of others. In retrospect I think it was a rejection letter that I treated as an acceptance letter.

  There were flyers on the corkboards of the Harvard Business School Library inviting students to attend a cocktail party at the Ritz-Carlton in Boston for potential Goldman hires. I talked my way past the receptionist by showing her my “acceptance” letter, and next thing I knew I was face-to-face with the people who did the hiring. I figured that my law degree coupled with my love for stocks could put me in line for one of those fancy corporate finance jobs that were and are all the rage at business school campuses. I wanted to play the role of the erudite bankers who had bossed around the lawyers on the deals I had witnessed at Fried Frank. I wanted a chance to be a well-paid, arrogant, corporate finance or merger and acquisitions associate. That would be the perfect fit for someone with my skill set I figured. And now I was in the room with the people who make the decisions about who gets those jobs. Within a few minutes of my arriving, I found myself talking to a towering man who seemed to be the reigning Goldman honcho. Indeed he was; I had stumbled on to Richard Menschel, head of all Securities, Sales, and Trading and one of the most influential partners ever to work at Goldman. I was all set to tell him about how I thought corporate finance should be my next home. After a minute of banter he said he had a most important question to ask me. He wanted to know why a Harvard Law School student would want to take a job selling stocks at Goldman Sachs. I thought for a second. Huh, sales, sales, I mean like, sales—what is this guy talking about? Sales? I’m here for corporate finance. Wasn’t this the corporate finance reception? Were there salespeople at places like Goldman, people like the broker who sold my dad National Video? Did they have brokers there, at the esteemed and august Goldman Sachs?

  But right before I could utter, “Beats the heck out of me, pal,” I came to my senses and simply said, “Because I think I was put on earth to sell stocks.” He asked me what distinguished me from the pack that would be seeking these jobs. I thought for a second and I said I represented the most massively undervalued security in the whole room and if he would give me a chance, I would prove it worth his while. I told him I was like Exxon, overlooked and undervalued. He laughed and told me I might get a shot. I thought I was in, but I had no idea what awaited me. If the gauntlet for a Goldman job from even the top of Harvard Business School was a tough one, it would be nearly insurmountable for someone from Harvard Law.

  Not that long after, while visiting New York for one of those torturous law firm interviews, which I was using as a backup if the Goldman gambit failed, I dropped by Goldman Sachs at the appointed hour that the head recruiter had assigned me after Menschel had checked off on my existence and didn’t flat out say no. The receptionist put me in a little interview room the size of two phone booths at around 11:00 a.m.  I waited, patiently, reading some annual reports, for what seemed like hours. And it was hours. Nobody came to see me. At a little after 5:00 p.m.  a cleaning person told me that everyone had left and that I better be heading home myself lest I get locked in overnight. I debated that possibility momentarily and then exited.

  I took the six hours in the phone booth as a sign that while it would be a little bit harder to get the Goldman summer gig than I had thought, I shouldn’t be discouraged. Once back in Cambridge I wrote again, asking for an interview. The person in charge of the summer program, I recall, was concerned that I might not have gotten the message that my full-day wait had implied. I said I had, that Goldman was a tough place and only those who waited all day in a windowless holding pen would make the cut to the next round. I told the recruiter that while the test had been debilitating so far, I was more interested in selling stocks than ever before.

  A week later, I was back in the booth. This time, though, a dozen young associates took turns whacking the law school piñata. Each one tried to rattle me by asking me for a half-dozen stocks I liked, where their closing prices were and what their price-to-earnings multiples and book value—yes it was a long time ago—were. I thought I had died and gone to heaven. I had been born to answer these questions, after I had finished naming the prices of every stock, their fifty-two-week lows and highs, what multiples they were selling for, and what I thought they would earn next year, I eagerly critiqued  their  favorite stocks and mentioned some I thought would be stronger performers than those on Goldman’s recommended list.

  I felt so good about the full-day slate of interviews that I grabbed my coat out of the fourth-floor closet in the reception area and dashed out of Goldman almost as if I were on fire. It was only when I got to the 59th Street Bridge and I realized that I had snared the wrong coat—mistakenly walking out with the raincoat of the last partner who had interviewed me—that I had a pang of worry that I wouldn’t get the job. Five subway stops later and I was returning the coat to its hanger just when the partner was heading out. He looked at me and marveled that I had stuck around so long after being dismissed, and I said, I couldn’t stay away from the action. He said he liked that in a person, someone who didn’t know when to quit.

  Shortly after, I won the coveted summer slot. I was to be the guy from Harvard for sales and trading. Never was a guy from Harvard Law School more excited about going into sales than I was. I knew there was no way I was going back to the law after this move.

  That summer I got my first taste of the basic training that was Goldman Sachs. Goldman was the polar opposite of a law firm. Bill Gruver, the tough taskmaster in charge of the program, immediately got to the front lines of action. I was thrown in, from the moment I got there, to the trading desk, where I had to field calls from arbitrageurs interested in buying Diamond Shamrock in a takeover bid. I had no idea what I was doing. People spent the whole day screaming at me about what a knucklehead I was. I wasn’t sure if I was supposed to come back the next day. But I did, and sat down in the same place, and got screamed at all day again, until some other desk asked me to sit with them where  they  screamed at me all day. I was called an idiot, a moron, and a stupid dope, and all I can say is I am glad they didn’t know I went to Harvard Law because then they would have had a field day with me. This trading stuff was hard. This wasn’t my seven Bobbie Brooks shares, nor my ten Amoco calls. This was “trading 250,000 shares of Crown Cork and Seal on the bid side, open to buyers.” It was total firing line indoctrination, and I loved it.

  We in the program, as it was called, would do our best not to be tortured too often with the mindless errands we had to run for unimportant associates trying to feel important, and we held up under the nonstop ridicule all day, until after the close of the market we attended night classes that often didn’t begin until hours after they were supposed to. These were truly brutal. We would always be asked a series of questions we didn’t know the answer to and if we got them wrong we would have to leave the room and wait outside until we were invited back. Sometimes we weren’t. Everyone in the program seemed to be made of tungsten, they were that tough. I remember, at an early meeting, giving an introduction about myself, talking about how I had lived in my car with a .22 caliber handgun and a hatchet and covered violent crime. I figured that put me in the toughness room. But the guy after me looked at me as if I were a sissy. I guess he figured I should have had a Magnum or maybe a flamethrower and grenades. I will never forget what he said he did. He explained that right before he was hired, he was a naval submarine commander and when he entered the killing profession he could fire a nuclear warhead from Diego Garcia in the Indian Ocean and hit Yankee Stadium. And when he left five years later he could fire that same missile but this time he could hit home plate. Another time I would have said, “What the heck are you firing nuclear warheads at Yankee Stadium for?” Instead, I was just in awe. I hadn’t done anything that could start World War III.

  Goldman was still looking to shake people out, not take them in. They were trying to find ways of limiting the number of people they hired. They knew they would make you rich if they hired you, and with that promise came a devotion to the firm that knew no bounds. Day four of my training proved to be more of a test than I had bargained for. My sister, Nan, was getting married during the first weekend of the summer school program and when I accepted the job I had asked to be able to attend her Friday night prenuptial dinner. I had assurances that it would not be a problem, as long as I attended the class after work and asked for permission then. I had again asked for permission that morning and, anxious that I not miss the event, had around lunchtime reminded my boss that I had to be in Philadelphia at 8:00 p.m. He assured me not to worry about a thing. Class would start right on schedule after the close because everyone wanted to make an early Friday break for a summer weekend.

  But the instructor, who was the same soul who repeatedly assured me I would not miss the event, showed up two and a half hours after the four o’clock close of the market. Before we started class, in front of about thirty full-time trainees who had just graduated from business school as well as the elite group of five summer associates I was part of, I explained to the instructor that if I left right then I could still make the big dinner the night before my sister’s marriage. I asked for permission to hightail it to the occasion. The instructor looked at me and noted that I had worked hard to get the summer slot and that now was a moment of truth. Sure I could leave, but if I did, I shouldn’t bother coming back to work on Monday because Goldman would give the job to one of the thousand other people who had wanted it but had been turned down to let some kid from law school take the position. “Your call,” he said, immediately starting the class.

  And that’s how I came to miss the prenuptial party for my sister.

  I still can’t explain the choice to anybody in my family. I still can’t explain why I wanted Goldman Sachs so badly that I risked the wrath of my family and the anger of my conscience. I knew, however, that I loved the rigor, the intensity of the company. And, yes, I wanted the money. I wanted to be successful at the pinnacle of capitalism and there was no sense going back after you finally made it to base camp. I wanted it, in the end, too much, because, as I would later learn, I was always too willing to postpone or sacrifice the people and things in life that mattered in favor of the need to be successful.

  As rigorous as the boot camp may have been for the rest of the summer, I couldn’t get enough of Goldman Sachs. By midsummer I was even more certain I could never become a lawyer and yet I would have to endure another whole year of law school before I could get back to Wall Street. Every day I immersed myself on the trading floor, every night I headed to the research floor. I tried to spend eighteen hours a day chatting up anyone I could find to talk stocks. I couldn’t get enough of the stock-oxygenated atmosphere of the joint. By the end of the summer the hazing stopped, and I was allowed to talk to associates without total subservience. Come August, I stayed until the day before third-year classes began. By August I had been allowed to trade, and I started increasing the size of the positions for my own account. August of 1983 proved to be a strong month for the market, and I made as much money trading as I did at the firm. Now that I understood the lingo I knew the place rocked with energy. I knew that the people were incredibly smart and fast and exacting and, above all, hungrier than you would ever believe people who were making fortunes weekly could be. It was a precision-crafted money factory. I never wanted to leave.

  Once back in Cambridge for the fall I threw myself into my trading for the Peretz account, choosing to “attend” law school by using those ubiquitous outlines where you attend one class out of thirty, take copious notes, and then let twenty-nine others do the same until you had thirty great sets of class notes. This was an ideal way to play around and still have a legitimate cover for doing it. Actually, all of law school was a terrific way to have a good time and have a great alibi for doing it, provided you didn’t care about where you stood in your class rankings, and, as someone who was going into sales at Goldman, I couldn’t have cared less. It was also an ideal setting for trading stocks, with the need to miss only one trading session per class taken.

  That fall of 1983 and the spring of 1984 saw big setbacks in tech, which I had pounded on from the short side, making a monster bet against Motorola and Cray Research as well as Data General and Digital Equipment. On the long side I had moved on to playing a high-stakes game of call buying in the oil and gas equities, as the takeover action had reached a frenzy in the patch.

  As I took our account well into the black in mid-spring of 1984, I found a class, at last, with relevance to what I was trading in: anti-trust. Most of my call option positions were in oil stocks, which I thought would get takeover bids or had bids on the table. Only antitrust, the federal doctrine dating back to Teddy Roosevelt’s time, stood in the way of making some huge coin. I didn’t know anything about it, but I had the best professor in the business teaching the body of work, Phil Areeda, former head of antitrust for the Justice Department.

  As usual, when I attended, I sat in the back, charting stocks and checking out the stock tables, as I did in the handful of classes I bothered to attend. It was then that I decided I could commit to memory all of the closing prices of all of the stocks on the New York Stock Exchange, just to relieve the in-class boredom between April and graduation.

  My bets had grown from ten and twenty calls, usually about $5,000 to $10,000, to about $25,000 to $50,000 at a clip after I got back from my summer at Goldman. I loved the oils so much that I did my third-year paper on the DuPont-Conoco takeover and spent oodles of time interviewing partners at law firms for the paper, all of whom assured me, the student, that there were many more deals like Conoco in the pipeline. So I drilled for and hit call option gushers in Sinclair and Getty and then rolled the profits into Gulf Oil, which was a perennial target. Sure enough I hit a big one, a huge bid by Chevron for Gulf, the smallest of what was then the sovereign Seven Sisters of the oil world. Surprisingly, while Gulf Oil’s stock took off for a half-dozen points, giving me a tidy gain, it didn’t get nearly as high as it would have if the government weren’t going to step in to block the deal. In other words, it traded at a huge discount to what could be a final bid if one were to be allowed. I figured there could be fifteen big ones, fifteen huge points that I could play with if only I knew whether the government was going to let the deal through. The newspapers were filled with wary arbitrageurs worried that the deal would never be allowed. Gulf began creeping back down to where it was before the deal was announced. I started giving back a huge gain. I wanted to double up on the bet, but the Justice Department’s move was just too hard to call, according to the parade of talking heads I watched on the screen and read about in the  Journal.  You just couldn’t know whether Justice would green-light the merger between the second- and seventh-largest oil companies.

  In three years at law school I never said a thing about the law in class if I could avoid it. I would hide rather than be called on, and frequently passed, even if the professors reminded me we weren’t playing bridge, a joke that I laughed at the first time, but by year three had gotten sick of hearing. I just wished they would let me alone. I sleepwalked and back-benched through the whole experience. But for once, I figured, let me get something out of this high-priced education. A few days after the Gulf-Chevron deal, with Gulf in free fall as rumor-mongers on Wall Street bet that Justice would stop it, and my calls caused me to bleed red from my eyeballs, I did the unthinkable. I approached Professor Areeda, the reigning antitrust teacher in the country and the acknowledged dean of the subject, and asked him about the Gulf deal. He slowly looked me up and down, wrinkled his nose as if I needed a shower, which I probably did, and asked if I was the guy who kept reading the  Journal  in the back of the room, paying no attention to class. I said that was me, no denying it. He said he had no desire to help someone who was obviously so uninterested in the subject, but because I was his student, he felt obliged to tell me that he was sure that the deal would go through and it would not be blocked. I looked at him again and said, “Mr. Areeda, I am a bit of a betting man. How certain are you?”

  He said he knew Justice wasn’t going to stop it. I told him I was going to bet that way and that it would really screw up everything if he were wrong.

  He looked at me with total contempt and asked if I thought he really wasn’t the expert he knew himself to be. Was I challenging his knowledge or his sources in Justice?

  Oh no, I assured him, I was just pretty stupid about the subject, an opinion he readily acknowledged.

  With that, I thanked him, looked at the clock and saw that there was still enough time to bolt from class and get to the phone booth outside the lecture hall. I took all the available money and borrowing power I had and put it all on the Gulf Oil April 45, 50, and 55 calls, betting that the stock in the low 40s was about to roar right back up because the government wouldn’t block the deal. I would make almost ten times my money if Areeda knew what he was talking about.

  I had to wait until some woman got off the phone to her mother, bragging about how she had gotten a job at one of those New York sweatshops, knowing that if she didn’t shut up, I wouldn’t beat the closing bell. She hung up just in time for me to punch in Fidelity’s numbers and place the shootin’ match bet on Gulf calls.

  The next day Justice leaked that it would bless the merger. The move paid for the entire three years of law school and then some. It would be two years before I had a hit as big as that one. It also reminded me that as much as you like a diversified bet, if you have an edge, you have to be willing to bet the house on it.

  For me, the journey, and the addiction, were just beginning.

  I counted down the days to the end of law school. On graduation day, Marty threw a terrific party and introduced me to dozens of friends as his broker, thereby assuring me that I would have a strong client base when I got to Goldman. It was an act of generosity he would repeat over and over in the next dozen years. On the last day of exams, however, as I packed my bags for New York and a summer of studying for the bar exam, I got the phone call that would scar me for the rest of my life. The registrar claimed I had failed to drop a class and that I was fifteen minutes late to an exam of a civil procedure class that I would have to take if I were to graduate. I said I knew nothing about civil procedure and wasn’t about to take an exam I had failed to prep for. Then I wasn’t going to graduate, she told me.

  A few days after everyone had left the campus, my case came before the administrative board. I remember telling my interlocuter that I had never even showed at the class and that must have been a sure sign that I had dropped it. But the questioner knew I had barely attended any other classes, so that couldn’t be proof. After getting a couple of professors whom I had impressed as a stock picker to speak up for me, I was allowed to graduate. For the next sixteen years, until I retired from the hedge fund business, I would dream at least three times a week that I had to take an exam for a class I didn’t attend.

  Studying for the bar exam was pure hell, because there was only one phone booth at the corner of Sixth Avenue and 45th Street in Manhattan, where the classes were held, and they gave you no break before the opening to place orders. Pre–cell phone it was almost impossible to trade unless you were at a desk.

  So, for two months, I let my call positions ride, trading only when I could get to the pay phone, and then rarely taking much off the table. I almost got killed betting that Amoco would be the next oil to get a bid. It would be more than a dozen years before that takeover would come to fruition.

  Goldman Sachs had made it clear that I would not be able to manage Marty’s money when I was in the three-month training period to be in sales. That meant I had to gun Marty’s account to maximum size before I cashed it out. That meant making a sizable tech bet right at the time of the bar exam, with huge outsized wagers on Texas Instruments, IBM, and Motorola. I bought massive amounts of calls a week before the bar exam. As I was going to start work the day after the exam, I had no choice but to cash out all my positions during the break in the bar between the multistate and the New York State portions. I rang the register for about $3 million of call options—I had built the original money into a substantial sum over the years—from the only working pay phone three blocks from New York Law School, where the exam was given, and got back just in time for the next part of the exam.

  I got out of the Goldman training program early because I had taught myself a lot of what there was to learn, and I had withdrawal when I couldn’t trade. And then, once out of the training program, I could see there would be this huge obstacle to performing as well as I would like in the market: when you are a broker at a firm, even a great firm like Goldman Sachs, you only have one task in mind, and it isn’t making money for your clients. It is finding new money and bringing in “elephants,” as we called them at Goldman. Every day, day in and day out, I would have to make thirty cold calls to people I didn’t know and who had no desire to talk to me. I would get hung up on as I tried endlessly to get through to people. Didn’t matter. My job was to call and I would have to submit a log of calls each week. (This came easy for me after having to call the next of kin of dozens of homicide victims when I was a beat reporter.)

  I searched endlessly for good lists to call. Those who donated money to virtually anything and were not already clients of the firm would get a call from me. I called every patron that I could find of the Metropolitan Opera, Metropolitan Museum, any ballet company. If you were in a program at Lincoln Center, I called you.
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